MAHI - STM - 206 - 1

Muckamore Abbey Hospital Inquiry

Module 6b - Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Report

MODULE 6b WITNESS STATEMENT
ON BEHALF OF BELFAST HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE TRUST

I, Brenda Creaney, Executive Director of Nursing and User Experience within the
Belfast Health and Social Care Trust (the Belfast Trust), make the following statement

for the purposes of the Muckamore Abbey Hospital Inquiry (the MAH Inquiry):

1. This statement is made on behalf of the Belfast Trust in response to a request for
evidence from the MAH Inquiry Panel dated 7 December 2023. The statement
addresses a series of questions relating to what has been described by the MAH

Inquiry as Module 6b about the Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Report.

2. This is my first witness statement to the MAH Inquiry.

3. As with other evidence modules, it is not possible for any one person in the Belfast
Trust to address the matters the MAH Inquiry has asked the Belfast Trust to
address in the letter of 7 December 2023. Accordingly, while I am the witness
statement maker on behalf of the Belfast Trust for the purposes of the Module 6b
Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding report statement, I make this statement having

had the particular assistance of the following individuals:

a. Colm Donaghy, former Chief Executive of the Belfast Trust

b. Marie Mallon, former deputy Chief Executive of the Belfast Trust
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c. Cecil Worthington, former Director Social Work at the Belfast Trust

d. Tracy Reid, present Director of Social Work at the Belfast Trust

e. John Growcott, former Co-Director of Social Work at the Belfast Trust

f. Catherine McNicholl, former Director of Adult Social and Primary Care
at the Belfast Trust

g. Marie Heaney, former Director of Adult Social and Primary Care at the

Belfast Trust

h. John Veitch, former Co-Director of Learning Disability at the Belfast

Trust

i. Rhonda Scott, present Assistant Service Manager at the Belfast Trust

j. Geraldine Hamilton, previous Interim Operational Manager at

Knockbracken in the Belfast Trust

k. Ciaran Mulgrew, present Chairman of the Belfast Trust

4. Tam grateful to all of the individuals who have given of their time to try to consider

a matter that, in the main, occurred in excess of 10 years ago.

5. It has unfortunately not been possible in the time available to speak to all of the
individuals who may have been able to assist to piece together what occurred in
respect of the matters being considered by the MAH Inquiry. It is unfortunately

the case that when the matters were being dealt with in real time it would not have
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been envisaged that the matters would need to be addressed before a public

inquiry.

This statement has not included input from any of the authors of the Ennis Adult
Safeguarding Report. I recognise that the recollections of those individuals are
also likely to be important as to how adult safeguarding procedures operated in
2012 and 2013, why certain escalations would normally happen, and why other
escalations may not have happened. For instance, I did not make contact with Ms
Morrison, who no longer works in the Belfast Trust, because I was made aware
that Ms Morrison had already been contacted by the MAH Inquiry about this
subject at an earlier stage, and because I am aware there is an ongoing process in

the Belfast Trust relating to Ms Morrison.

The documents that I refer to in this statement can be found in the exhibit bundle

attached to this statement marked “BC1”.

The 7 December 2023 MAH Inquiry request for evidence can be found at Tab 1 in

the exhibit bundle. It contains a set of 21 questions directed to the Belfast Trust.

In the 7 December 2023 MAH Inquiry request letter reference was made to a
bundle of documents entitled “Module 6b: Ennis Ward Adult Safequarding Report —
Bundle for Witnesses” (the Ennis Bundle). The Ennis Bundle made available to the
Belfast Trust contains 804 pages of material. The index to the Ennis Bundle can be
found behind Tab 1 in the exhibit bundle, at Enclosure 1. The 804-page Ennis
Bundle is incorporated by reference behind Tab 1 of the exhibit bundle.

In order to try to comprehensively answer the questions posed by the MAH
Inquiry it is necessary for the Belfast Trust to refer some additional documents not

presently contained in the Ennis Bundle.
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11. The MAH Inquiry had already asked the Belfast Trust to address the October 2013
Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Report, amongst others, as part of its Module 6
witness statement. The Belfast Trust Module 6 witness statement, signed by
Martin Dillon, former Chief Executive of the Belfast Trust, was provided on 26
April 2023. Topic 2 of the 26 April 2023 statement, between paragraphs 23 to 143,
addressed the October 2013 Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Report, along with
the documents found at Tab 3 of the exhibit bundle to the 26 April 2023 statement,
from page 214 to 930. It is necessary that this statement is read alongside the above

sections of the 26 April 2023 witness statement.

12. In particular, I refer to paragraphs 34 and 35 of the 26 April 2023 statement:

“It is perhaps important to note that the Ennis Adult Safeguarding Investigation
Report, and the adult safeguarding process it summarised and reflected, is but one part
of the Belfast Trust’s internal procedures when an adverse incident of this type occurs.
The report essentially marked the conclusion of the vulnerable adult safeguarding
investigation. However, many other actions and steps were taken in the immediate
aftermath of the allegations being made, and during the course of the vulnerable adult

investigation.

The response to the Ennis Adult Safeguarding Report must therefore be seen in that
context and considered in conjunction with all of the steps that had already been taken
by the Belfast Trust in response to the allegations. Some of the steps were taken as part
of the vulnerable adult investigation, some of the steps were taken in conjunction with

RQIA, and some were taken as part of further internal investigations and actions.”

13. The key issue that the Belfast Trust would want to emphasise, and as demonstrated
by the content of the available documentation, when considered in detail, that the
allegations about what was said to have occurred on the Ennis Ward in 2012 were

taken very seriously. That is not to say that the Belfast Trust will have got
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everything right in its response to those matters, nor that everyone involved would
have agreed with each other about every matter that was considered, but the
Belfast Trust would not want the MAH Inquiry, or anyone following its work, to
think that the matter was addressed other than seriously. It is an unfortunate fact,
as discussed later in this statement, that there will be occasions, right across the
health and social care sector, where staff do not behave as they should. It will also
be the case that how those situations are addressed will prompt legitimate

disagreement amongst those dealing with the situation.

The Belfast Trust also recognises that it is very difficult for hindsight not to affect
any consideration of the approach to the matters relating to the Ennis ward in 2012,

given the events of 2017 and their aftermath.

Qualification, Experience and Position of the Statement Maker

15.

I have been the Executive Director of Nursing and User Experience in the Belfast
Trust since January 2010. I have responsibility for two extensive portfolios. The
first is in respect of Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Professionals. The
second is for Patient and Client Support Services. As an Executive Director I am a

member of the Executive Team and the Trust Board.

Overarching Context at Muckamore Abbey Hospital and Ennis Ward

16.

In considering the responses to the 2012 events connected to Ennis ward, the MAH
Inquiry is invited to also consider the then context of the hospital. The Belfast Trust
considers that the context is important when assessing the nature of the Belfast

Trust response at the material time.

17. In February 2012 Muckamore Abbey Hospital had 212 patients. In February 2013

Muckamore Abbey Hospital had 199 patients.
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18. Muckamore Abbey Hospital, in November 2012, provided care across 13 wards;
Cranfield (Men), Cranfield (Women), Cranfield (PICU), Donegore, Killead, Sixmile

Assessment, Sixmile Treatment, Ennis, Rathmullan, Erne, Greenan, Moyola and Oldstone.

19. In terms of staff at Muckamore Abbey Hospital; as at 31 March 2012 the staff

complement was as follows:

MAH @ 31.03.2012
Professional Area No of Staff
Admin & Clerical 43

Estate Services 13
Medical 6
Nursing 398

Prof & Tech 3

Social Care 36
Support Services 106

Grand Total 605

20. The staff complement as at 31 March 2013 was as follows:

MAH @ 31.03.13
Professional No of
Area staff
Admin & Clerical 45
Estate Services 12
Medical 7
Nursing 424
Prof & Tech 1
Social Care 36
Support Services 103
Grand Total 628
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Ennis Ward itself appears to have had in excess of 20 members of staff at the

material time, working on rotational shifts (MAHI-1-236 to 245).

The available material indicates that staffing was a problem in general across the

hospital site in 2012, and this included on Ennis ward itself.

In terms of adult safeguarding within Muckamore Abbey Hospital itself, between

1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 there appear to have been 565 referrals.

Between 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 there were some 804 adult

safeguarding referrals.

In considering the response of the Belfast Trust to the allegations made about some
staff on Ennis Ward in November 2012, this overall context indicates that the
allegations related to a small number of the overall staff complement of the
hospital and were said to relate to a small number of patients of the hospital. When
these two facts are considered against the extent of the steps that were taken in
response to the allegations, the position of the Belfast Trust is that the response

demonstrates that the matter was taken very seriously.

In 2012 what is now termed adult safeguarding was referred to by reference to the
protection of vulnerable adults, or adult protection. The applicable Belfast Trust
policy in 2012 was the “Belfast Health and Social Care Trust Adult Protection Policy
and Procedures” which had the reference TP044/10. The Belfast Trust policy was
intended to reflect the requirements of the regional September 2006 “Safeguarding
Vulnerable Adults” policy. The Belfast Trust policy was updated in 2013. Greater
detail was provided in relation to procedures, and there was also a change in
language more towards adult safeguarding. The policy title, with the same

TP044/10 reference, became “Belfast Health and Social Care Trust Adult Protection
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Policy and Procedures 2013”. The 2009 “Protocol for Joint Investigations of Alleged and
Suspected Cases of Abuse of Vulnerable Adults” also applied at the time of the 2012

investigation. These various policies can be found behind Tab 2 in the exhibit

bundle.

27. Ennis ward had amalgamated with Fairview ward in 2010. In December 2013
Ennis, Erne and Mallow wards amalgamated to form what became known as Erne

Ward or Erne Ennis ward. Erne ward closed in August 2021.

28. In November 2012 Ennis ward had two different accommodation areas:

a. On entering the main entrance hall, and turning right, you had
accommodation for 5 or 6 patients (in 2012 there were 6 patients). The
patients on this part of the ward were more independent than those on the
other part of the ward. This was said to be reflected, amongst other things,
in the “range and choice of furniture” on the ward (MAHI-Ennis-1-118).
Accommodation was three single bedrooms, one double or triple bedroom,

a living room and dining room, toilet and bathroom.

b. On entering the main entrance hall, and turning left, you had
accommodation for 11 or 12 patients (in 2012 there were 11 patients) who
had greater levels of disability and difficulty and were “less able and less
independent” (MAHI-Ennis-1-118). There were two dayrooms, each with
different facilities to reflect the different levels of difficulty of the patients.
There was a dining room in between. Sleeping accommodation was a mix
of single room, a double bedroom, and two four person dormitories. There
was a sensory room. There was also the kitchen for the ward and the

kitchen store.
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RQIA inspected Ennis ward on 10 and 11 November 2010. The 31-page report is
dated 8 December 2010. A consideration of the report demonstrates the extensive
and detailed nature of the inspection. The lead inspector, from the RQIA Mental
Health and Learning Disability Team, was also one of two representatives from
RQIA who subsequently participated in the Ennis Vulnerable Adult/Adult
Safeguarding strategy group (discussed below). The lead RQIA inspector was also
separately involved in conducting RQIA inspections of Ennis ward in 2012. The 8
December 2010 RQIA Ennis inspection report can be found at BHSCT - R - 00003
- 2010.11.10 Ennis Ward Inspection Report (31 Pages) - (00354).pdf.

In April 2011, the then Department for Health, Social Services and Public Safety
(the Department) commissioned RQIA to carry out a review of the effectiveness of
safeguarding arrangements within mental health and learning disability hospitals
across the five health and social care trusts in Northern Ireland. RQIA conducted
33 inspections on the theme of safeguarding between December 2011 and July
2012, culminating in a February 2013 42-page report entitled “Safeguarding of
Children and Vulnerable Adults in Mental Health and Learning Disability Hospitals in
Northern Ireland. Overview Report”. The report found that all trusts had policies and
procedures in place to keep people safe from the risk of harm and abuse. The

report also made 26 recommendations. A copy of the report can be found behind

Tab 3 in the exhibit bundle.

As part of the RQIA review, Muckamore Abbey Hospital’s then Greenan Ward
and Cranfield ICU were inspected by RQIA.

The review focused on:

a. Policies and procedures associated with safeguarding

b. Management, supervision and training of staff
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c. Arrangements for the recruitment of staff

d. Awareness and response to safeguarding concerns

e. Identification and prevention of abuse

f. Concerns and complaints from patients and relatives

g. Records management arrangements.

33. Inspectors considered there was an effective infrastructure in each trust to support
the operation of partnership groups, including sub-groups which led in the areas
of: policies and procedures; performance management and information; training;
and communication and service user experience. However, the inspectors were
concerned about the lack of an up-to-date regional policy and procedures for

safeguarding vulnerable adults.

The 21 questions to be addressed by the Belfast Trust

Question 1

Once the Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Report was completed, who was it
provided to within the Belfast Trust?

It is expected that the answer to this question will also explain when and in what
circumstances the report was provided to such persons/entities.

34. Unfortunately, it is not now possible for the Belfast Trust to be absolutely sure who
the Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Report was provided to within the Belfast

Trust.

35. The Adult Safeguarding Case Conference Minutes of 28 October 2013 (MAHI-
Ennis-1-71) indicate that an amended final version of the report had been circulated

to those involved in the Joint Protocol Case Conference meeting of 28 October 2013.
36. This included the representatives of the PSNI, RQIA, South Eastern Health and

Social Care Trust (the Southern Trust) and the Northern Health and Social Care
Trust (the Northern Trust). Within the Belfast Trust it included the Co-Director for
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Learning Disability and the Co-Director of Nursing (Education and Learning).
Both of the latter individuals, who were senior members of staff of the Belfast
Trust, had been involved in the strategy meetings/case conferences during the
vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation which began in November

2012.

Ms Aine Morrison, who was the Designated Officer for the Ennis Ward vulnerable
adult/adult safeguarding investigation, and who, with others, conducted the
vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation for the Belfast Trust, may be
able to further assist with precisely who the report was provided to once it was
completed. Unfortunately, Belfast Trust itself has not been able to establish with
any certainty who within the Belfast Trust, beyond the above, was given an actual

copy of the final report.

This is different from who was aware of the Ennis ward allegations, the steps that
were taken in response, and what the ultimate outcome was. For instance, senior
members of the Belfast Trust will have known about the allegations, the fact of the
vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation, and the prosecution and

eventual acquittal of two members of staff.

Equally, specific RQIA inspections were carried out in the immediate aftermath of
the allegations, and over the subsequent year. Those reports made specific
reference to the allegations of abuse of patients by staff on Ennis ward (see, by way
of example, MAHI-Ennis-1-119, MAHI-Ennis-1-148 and MAHI-Ennis-1-168). RQIA
reports that came into the Belfast Trust in 2012 and 2013 arrived with the then Chief
Executive of the Belfast Trust, Colm Donaghy, and were circulated to the relevant
Director. As discussed below, there was specific RQIA correspondence about the

issues at Chief Executive level.
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I don’t believe that the then Co-Director of Nursing (Education and Learning), who
worked to me, provided me with a copy of the final adult safeguarding report.
However, because of how adult safeguarding processes operated at the time, and
still operate, it would not have been normal for me as the Director of Nursing to
receive copies of adult safeguarding reports. This is not to say that I did not know
about the issues that had arisen on Ennis Ward, and the response to them, which
the adult safeguarding investigation was one part of. I was obviously aware of the
allegations shortly after they were made. The 9 November 2012 Early Alert to the
Department, and the then Health and Social Care Board (HSCB), was made by
another one of my Co-Directors (MAHI-Ennis-1-82/3).

The Early Alert informed the Department that a member of staff had reported that
two staff (one Staff Nurse and one Health Care Support Worker), and one Student
Nurse, had physically abused 4 patients in Ennis ward at Muckamore Abbey
Hospital. ~ Further, that the relevant staff had been suspended pending
investigation, that the PSNI had been informed, and the relevant regulatory bodies
contacted. I was personally copied into the 9 November 2012 Belfast Trust Early
Alert email sent to the Department and the HSCB on behalf of the then Corporate
Governance Manager of the Belfast Trust, Claire Cairns. Dr Tony Stevens, the then
Medical Director, Ms Catherine McNicholl, the then Director of Adult Social and
Primary Care and Ms June Champion, the then Co-Director of Risk and
Governance, were also copied into the email with the Early Alert Notification

(MAHI-Ennis-1-83).

I was also involved in decision making to send one of my Co-Directors, Ms
Mannion, then Co-Director of Nursing (Education and Learning), to perform the
oversight and monitoring role at Muckamore Abbey Hospital (MAHI-Ennis-1-86).
Ms Mannion kept me updated on what was occurring, including providing me
with her proposed action plan for review and providing me with her briefing
reports thereafter. Ms Mannion was my direct report and would have raised with

me anything she wanted my view about or wished to discuss, and did so at various
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points, including during our 1:1 meetings. I was also kept up to date as to the
position in relation to the two nurses and §iEg) who were both suspended
on foot of the allegations (and who were also referred to the Independent
Safeguarding Authority ) and a CNO alert was requested through the Nurses in
Difficulty process. (BHSCT - II - 00045 - 2013.04.01 - 2014.02_Meeting with the
Executive Director of Nursing_Summary Document (33 pages) - (02373).pdf) The nurse
was then referred to the NMC after completion of the investigatory process.
and the student nurse who was originally suspended, were later

reinstated to work under supervision.

I can also see from available material that John Veitch, the then Co-Director of
Learning Disability, kept Ms Catherine McNicholl, the then Director of Adult
Social and Primary Care, up to date with the investigation through providing her
with the minutes of the Vulnerable Adult Strategy Meetings/ Adult Safeguarding
Case Conferences that took place during the course of the investigation, providing
Ms McNicholl with a briefing report written by Ms Esther Rafferty, the then
Service Manager for the hospital, as well as discussing the investigation at their
monthly one to one meetings. (For examples see BHSCT - A - 00016 - LD
Governance Lead — Various Records — Box File (572 pages) Redacted Copy - (00958)
pages 285, 332 and 510 and BHSCT - A - 00022 - Pages extracted from Director of
SSF&CC Records (CMcN)_ASPC Governance (174 pages) - (02450).pdf page 146 & 157).

It will also have been the case, though I have to admit that I do not have a memory
of them at this remove, that Ms Catherine McNicholl and I would have had
meetings and discussions about the progress of various aspects of the Action Plan
that was developed following the allegations about what occurred on Ennis ward.
I have found one example of such a meeting which took place on 10 April 2013. A
copy of the record can be found in BHSCT - A - 00022 - Pages extracted from Director
of SSF&CC Records (CMcN)_ASPC Governance (174 pages) - (02450).pdf at page 113.
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The available material also indicates that the then Belfast Trust Chief Executive,
Colm Donaghy, was made aware of the allegations and their subsequent
investigation. On 21 January 2013, RQIA sent the then Belfast Trust Chief
Executive its Ennis Ward Inspection Report, and Quality Improvement Plan,
following the RQIA unannounced inspection of the Ennis Ward on 13 November
2012. (BHSCT - A - 00017 - LD Governance Lead- Various Records (Folder 1 of 3) (816
pages) Redacted Copy- (00959) page 128). The then Chief Executive had the report
sent on to Ms McNicholl, the then Director of Adult Social and Primary Care. In
reply Ms McNicholl indicated: “Thanks. Colm left voicemail. Please let him know that
Ennis is the ward we are investigating and there is a robust vulnerable adult plan in place.
I will brief him further next week.” (BHSCT - A - 00022 - Pages extracted from Director
of SSF&CC Records (CMcN)_ASPC Governance (174 pages) - (02450).pdf at page 158).

On 1 February 2013 the then Chief Executive of RQIA wrote (MAHI-Ennis-1-210 to
MAHI-Ennis-1-213) to the then Chief Executive of the Belfast Trust in the context
of the Ennis abuse allegations. The correspondence was also copied to the then
Chief Executive of the HSCB and the Department’s Chief Medical Officer. The
correspondence raised four areas of concern that the RQIA wanted, at that point,
to bring to the attention of the Belfast Trust Chief Executive as part of the RQIA
Escalation Policy. It is likely that the reply from the then Belfast Trust Chief
Executive, which is likely to have broadly mirrored the information contained in
the document found at MAH-Ennis-1-214 to MAHI-Ennis-1-216, will have been
copied to the same individuals that were copied into the original RQIA

correspondence.

The subsequent report of the unannounced inspection of Ennis Ward undertaken
by RQIA on 29 January 2013 was also sent to the then Belfast Trust Chief Executive
under cover letter of 15 March 2013. (BHSCT - A - 00016 - LD Governance Lead -
Various Records - Box File (572 pages) Redacted Copy - (00958) page 554).
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Whilst senior people, both within the Belfast Trust, and outside of it, were aware
of the allegations of abuse on Ennis ward, and of the steps being taken to address
them, it would not be normal for those individuals to receive a copy of the final
adult safeguarding report. That would still not occur today. I try to explain why

that is below.

Question 2

Why was the report not provided to the Executive Team or Trust Board (see
paragraph 6 of the Leadership and Governance Report)?

49.

50.

51.

52.

In 2012 and 2013 actual adult safeguarding reports themselves were not provided
to either the Executive Team or the Trust Board. That is still the case in the Belfast
Trust, and it is anticipated that it is the same in all health and social care trusts in

Northern Ireland.

As with my answer to question 1, the Belfast Trust wishes to observe that the fact
an adult safeguarding report itself is not circulated should not be seen as the Belfast
Trust saying that members of the Executive Team or Trust Board (which includes
members of the Executive Team) did not know of the issues arising from Ennis
ward from the time they are said to have occurred, or that they were not involved
in addressing them. However, it was just not the case, and still is not the case, that

adult safeguarding reports were or are provided to Executive Team or Trust Board.

I can say that there is work ongoing, through the present Executive Director of
Social Work, to bring more adult safeguarding information to Trust Board, and the
Belfast Trust can provide the MAH Inquiry with more information on this work if

that would be helpful.

I have to accept, in view of what has occurred in Muckamore Abbey Hospital from

2017, that what I am about to say about the Belfast Trust’s approach to adult
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protection/adult safeguarding in 2012 and 2013 will seem horribly ironic.
Nevertheless, it is important that I provide the MAH Inquiry with information that
bears on the approach taken to adult safeguarding and the operative processes at
the time, as, whatever the Belfast Trust’s failings in connection with Muckamore
Abbey Hospital, it is a subject that the Belfast Trust always intended to take

seriously.

The Belfast Trust, and in particular Muckamore Abbey Hospital, historically had a
strong tradition for pushing forward the agenda of the development of adult
protection/adult safeguarding within the region. Muckamore Abbey Hospital is
understood to have been the first psychiatric facility in the region to adopt a
structured vulnerable adult/safeguarding process. It was also the first facility to
require the completion of vulnerable adult forms for every incident that staff
reported. When the Ennis Vulnerable Adult/Adult Safeguarding investigation
began in 2012, Adult Safeguarding processes were continuing to develop in
Northern Ireland. In the 2011-2012 financial year, there were 3,586 Adult
Safeguarding Referrals in total in Northern Ireland.! 514 of these referrals came
from the Learning Disability Service Area within the Belfast Trust?. This figure
grew to 1,010 referrals in the Learning Disability Service Area within the Belfast
Trust between April 2012 and March 2013.3 Seventy one percent of the referrals
were from Muckamore Abbey Hospital and twenty nine percent were from the
community.# Regionally, referrals grew to 7,747 Adult Safeguarding Referrals in
the 2015-2016 financial year.> The point I am trying to make is that the Belfast Trust
did regard vulnerable adult/adult protection processes as important. It did

promote and encourage, amongst staff, the reporting of matters of concern. I am

1 The Criminal Justice Inspection Northern Ireland, ‘Adult Safeguarding, The approach of the criminal justice
system to investigating and prosecuting crimes against vulnerable adults’, September 2015. Table 1, page 18

ibid.

2 Belfast LASP AS Report 2013-2014. page 19
3 Belfast LASP AS Report 2013-2014. page 19
4 Belfast LASP AS Report 2013-2014. page 19
5 Montgomery, L., & McKee, J. (2017). ‘Adult safeguarding in Northern Ireland: prevention, protection,
partnership. Journal of Adult Protection.” Page 7 (Statistic taken from 2015/2016 NIASP Annual Report)
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not trying to say Belfast Trust will have got everything right on all occasions, it
clearly didnt, but I am asking the MAH Inquiry to accept that the fact that
vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding reports were not themselves escalated to the
level of the Belfast Trust Executive Team or the Trust Board does not mean that the
protection of its patients and service users was not considered a matter of the

highest priority.

The Belfast Trust did have the highest number of vulnerable adult/adult
safeguarding referrals across all of the health and social care trusts at the time of
the Ennis process. The developing nature of adult safeguarding processes was an
issue that was recognised within the Belfast Trust in the early part of 2012. The
minutes of the Belfast Trust Learning Disability and Children’s Disability Services
Governance Meeting reflect this. The 1 March 2012 minutes of Learning Disability
and Children’s Disability Services Governance meeting refer to Vulnerable Adults

at section 2.2. and state:

“Esther advised that there continued to be a high rate of vulnerable adult incidents in
Muckamore Abbey Hospital especially in the last two weeks where four to five of these
are occurring per day. Esther raised the issue of increased workload for John Kell, Social
Worker and the Operations Manager- it was noted that 60% of John’s work at present
is form filling and reporting incidents to the PSNI. John Veitch asked that this would
be addressed within the Trust Statutory Functions Report and asked that it is ensured
that the vulnerable adult activity is highlighted in same. John McCart advised that
when the Trust met with the HSCB they highlighted that the Belfast Trust had more
vulnerable adult incidents than anywhere else. John advised that himself and Petra had
also met with Joyce McKee regarding the level of reporting 6-9 months previously. Joyce
had gone away from the meeting to think about the required level of reporting however
John has heard nothing since. John voiced his concerns that she felt that the Trust are
interpreting the guidance incorrectly but stated that as she hadn’t come back with an

answer the Trust would continue to report as before. Esther also raised the concerns
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that there are a number of files with the PSNI which have not been closed. Aine to raise
this issue at LASP meeting.
Esther and Aine to meet with Joyce McKee over next few months- John Growcott to

attend same.

55. Ms Morrison reported back at the next meeting of the Belfast Trust Learning
Disability and Children’s Disability Services Governance Meeting on 3 May 2012 .

The minutes of which state:

“Aine highlighted the issues all Trust were having regarding the interpretation of the
Safequarding Adults quidance and of different approaches by the PSNI in different
areas. The Belfast Health and Social Care Trust continues to have the highest number
of vulnerable adult incidents in the province which is again due to different Trusts’
interpretations of the quidance. Aine advised that a regional group had been set up to
review the Joint Protocol which she was part of - this group is chaired by Yvonne
McKnight of Belfast Health and Social Care Trust and should rectify some of the issues
highlighted. Brendan advised that the Trust had met with RQIA the previous day
regarding how the Safequarding Adults gquidance was being implemented through the
Trust. Brendan advised that RQIA had been very complimentary of the Trust and had
felt the Trust was leading the way on a number of issues for Northern Ireland. Brendan
advised that he felt this was because there was a good level of awareness regarding
Safeguarding Adults in the Trust. John advised that until an agreement is reached
regarding the level at which Vulnerable Adult incidents should be reported staff should
continue to report as before.

Aine to refer this issue in the Statutory Functions Report.”

56. This was then reflected in the 2012-2013 Belfast Trust Delegated Statutory
Functions Interim Report (BHSCT-I-00011-2012-2013_DSF_Interim (40 pages)-
(02061).pdf) at page 30, which noted that:
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“Working relationships with the PSNI are good and there is generally a positive
approach to co-ordination and joint working. The Trust has raised its concerns about
the time implementation of vulnerable adult procedures as a result of resource and

capacity pressures being experienced by the PSNI.

Difficulties remain about differences in interpretation of the current Joint Protocol.

The Service Area welcomes the revision of the Joint Protocol and would be hopeful that

an agreement between all parties on this would resolve some of the current concerns.

The Service Area awaits the new regional DHSSPSNI Adult Safequarding policy.”

When the Ennis allegations were made in November 2012, the “Belfast Health and
Social Care Adult Protection Policy & Procedures” (“the 2010 Adult Protection
Policy”) was in effect across the Belfast Trust. Under that policy there were seven
stages to a vulnerable adult or adult protection referral: alert, referral, screening,
planning the investigation, investigation, decision making and monitoring and
review. These seven stages aligned with the then regional “Adult Protection Policy
& Procedural Guidance” dated September 2006 which was also in effect at the time.
From April 2013, the “Belfast Health and Social Care Trust Adult Protection Policy and
Procedures (2013)” (“the 2013 Adult Protection Policy”) was in effect. Under the
2013 Adult Protection Policy, the seven stages became alert, referral, screening,
investigation and risk assessment, protection planning, decision making and

transfer or closure.

The July 2009 “Protocol for Joint Investigation of Alleged and Suspected Cases of Abuse
of Vulnerable Adults (July 2009)” (“the 2009 Joint Protocol”) also applied to the adult

protection investigation throughout the period of the investigation.

Under the then regional and Belfast Trust policies, and the joint protocol, all stages

of the vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding process was envisaged as being
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recorded on the forms appended to the relevant policy/protocol. Under the 2010
Adult Protection Policy these were the Vulnerable Adult (“VA”) Forms. Under the
2013 Adult Protection Policy these were the “ ASP” forms. Under the joint protocol,

these were the “AJP” forms.

A consideration of the regional and trust policies in this area indicates that there
was no requirement in the Belfast Trust Adult Protection policies, the 2009 Joint
protocol, nor the 2006 regional guidance for a report to be created on foot of an
adult safeguarding process. The fact there was what the Belfast Trust hopes will
be regarded as a comprehensive vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding report into
the Ennis allegations, and which involved the input of three Designated Officers,
along with all the other measures that were taken, indicates the seriousness with

which the matter was regarded in the Belfast Trust.

A consideration of the policies and guidance referred to above also indicates that
there was no guidance about with whom a vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding
report (if created) should be shared. Similarly, this was the position for the forms
that the policies and guidance did require to be completed during the course of an
adult protection process. Both of the Belfast Trust policies, the protocol and the
regional guidance envisaged the conclusion of an adult protection investigation
being agreed upon by way of the strategy meeting/case conference or equivalent.
This strategy meeting/case conference approach was the oversight method
envisaged for adult protection processes. In respect of the adult safeguarding
investigation into Ennis ward, this is reflected in the April 2014 Adult
Safeguarding Case Conference minutes available to the MAH Inquiry, as to how
an adult protection investigation reached its end (MAHI-Ennis-I-81). It is also
consistent with paragraph 2.10 of the 2013 Adult Protection policy, dealing with
stage 7 “Transfer/Closure” of a case investigated under the Adult Protection

procedures (internal page 29).
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That being said, I understand from social work colleagues that staff within the
Belfast Trust, and specifically members of the adult safeguarding teams, were
always encouraged to escalate matters upwards if they considered it necessary or
appropriate. Staff members conducting vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding
investigations were given some degree of autonomy as to how and when they

considered it necessary or appropriate to do so.

It is understood, from the then Co-Director of Social Work, John Growcott, that Ms
Morrison (who was the Designated Officer for the Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding
investigation) did seek the advice and support of her Co-Director Mr Growcott
when Ms Morrison was preparing the plan for how the investigation would be
conducted, and that the two, for example, specifically discussed the independence
of the investigation. Ms Morrison is likely to be best placed to provide further
information about discussions that she had, but it does appear, as may have been
expected, that Ms Morrison did discuss the progress of the investigation with
various colleagues, including those more senior than herself, informally at various

points.

Although there were no policies requiring the formal escalation of a vulnerable
adult/adult safeguarding report, it would always have been possible to formally
escalate a report if that was considered necessary. Within social work (which is
the discipline that conducted adult safeguarding investigations in the Belfast
Trust) there is a direct line of accountability to the Director of Social Work. A
vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding report could be formally forwarded to the
Director of Social Work if a Designated Officer considered that necessary or
appropriate. It could also be something discussed in 1:1 meetings that the Co-
Director of Social Work had with members of his team who were performing the
roles of Designated Officers. It could also be discussed at Social Work Leads
meetings. To date the Belfast Trust cannot find material indicating any of this did

happen in respect of the Ennis investigation, and it probably would be inconsistent
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with the conclusions of the report itself, and the content of the 8 April 2014 minutes

of the final Adult Safeguarding Case Conference meeting.

The report was shared with other members of the Adult Safeguarding Case
Conference/strategy group members. In terms of personnel within the Belfast
Trust, this included a Co-Director for Learning Disability and a Co-Director of
Nursing. If either of those individuals had considered it necessary to formally
escalate the report to the Executive Team or the Trust Board, then, whilst I would
tirst have expected them to have discussed doing so with the relevant Designated
Officer, and have potentially allowed the relevant Designated Officer to take that
course if it was considered appropriate, they could have formally escalated the
report through their direct reports (the Director of Adult Social and Primary Care
or the Executive Director of Nursing) if they considered that appropriate or
necessary. As receiving an adult safeguarding report would be out of the ordinary,
I think if the report had been escalated to me in that way, then it is something [ am

likely to remember.

It is anticipated Ms Morrison may be able to assist the MAH Inquiry with any
further steps she may have taken with respect to the actual Ennis Adult
Safeguarding report itself. It may be that Miss Morrison considered that the
vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation, which resulted in the
production of the report (alongside the other measures taken outwith the adult
safeguarding investigation, such as the engagement with RQIA and the
development and implementation of the Action Plan) had been conducted in line
with the relevant policy and protocol, and that it had concluded to the satisfaction
of all attendees of the joint strategy meeting, which included the then Belfast Trust
Co-Director of Learning Disability, the then Service Manager of MAH, the PSNI
and RQIA. Consequently, there was no need for the strategy group or the

Designated Officer to take what would have been, at the time (and still would be),
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67.

68.

69.

the unusual step of escalating an adult safeguarding report to the Executive Team

or Trust Board.

It is also the case that within the applicable Belfast Trust Assurance Framework
structure that operated at the time, there was a Vulnerable Adults Protection Panel,
that reported to the Assurance Group through the Social Care Steering Group. The
Social Care Steering Group was a formal sub-committee of the Assurance
Committee. In turn, the Assurance Group reported through the Executive to the
Assurance Committee of Trust Board. The Belfast Trust has not, as yet, found

evidence that the report was escalated through this means.

Had the matter been brought to the VA Panel, it could have been escalated
upwards to the Social Care Steering Group, if it was considered appropriate to do
so. The purpose of the Social Care Steering Group was to provide assurance with
regard to the arrangements for the Belfast Trust's discharge of its statutory
functions pertaining to the delivery of services by the social care workforce,
including its safeguarding responsibilities in respect of vulnerable adults and
children. Its duties included responsibility for the assurance of arrangements and
the provision of advice to the Assurance Committee on all matters pertaining to
the discharge of statutory functions by the Belfast Trust’s social care workforce and
arrangements for the overseeing of the Belfast Trust’s engagement with the Belfast

Local Adults Safeguarding Panel.

The VA Panel, which was also referred to as the Local Adult Safeguarding
Partnership (“LASP”), was both a sub-committee to the Social Care Steering
Committee, as reflected on the diagram which can be found at page 18 of the
2011/2012 Board Assurance Framework (BHSCT-D-00004-2011-2012 Board
Assurance Framework Revised Nov 2011 (18 pages)(00032)) and a sub-committee of
the Northern Ireland Adult Safeguarding Partnership (“NIASP”). The Belfast
Trust LASP was established in 2010 in line with the requirements detailed in the
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Trust LASP was established in 2010 in line with the requirements detailed in the
March 2010 Department for Health and Social Services and PSNI Adult
Safeguarding Partnership Arrangements. The Terms of Reference of the VA Panel

were endorsed by the Northern Ireland Safeguarding Panel.

Beyond the Belfast Trust itself, the PSNI was one of the external members of the
VA Panel. It was itself a recipient of the report, through its participation in the
strategy group/adult safeguarding case conference. In theory, if the PSNI had any
concern about the investigation or the report, then it could have formally raised
that at the VA Panel, and this would have potentially made its way to Trust Board

through the above governance mechanism.

Equally, if HSCB had considered that it should have been raised at LASP meetings
or in the LASP Annual Report, HSCB could have raised this at NIASP, to which

LASP was jointly accountable.

Whilst it may seem inadequate in the context of a public inquiry, the reality is that
for an organisation such as the Belfast Trust to operate effectively, it would just not
be possible for the Trust Board to see and review the likes of adult safeguarding
investigation reports or disciplinary investigation reports. Rather, the Trust Board
tries to ensure that its responsibilities are fulfilled through its organisational

structure and accountability arrangements.

Equally, the Assurance Committee steering groups and sub-committees do not
consider each report, complaint or incident afresh. Rather, they monitor, evaluate
and ensure that the processes that they are charged with overseeing are operating
effectively. Thus, the purpose of the VA Panel was not to consider every single
adult safeguarding referral that was made. Similarly, the purpose of the SAI Group
or Complaints Sub-Committee was not to examine the adequacy of the response

to every SAI or Complaint.
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This means that unless there was a particular reason that meant that the report
should itself be escalated, I would not expect to see the matter make its way
through the various layers of the assurance framework to a formal Trust Board
meeting. As I have stated above, I cannot speak for Ms Morrison (or indeed Mr
Veitch or Ms Mannion) but having read the minutes of the last adult safeguarding
case conference/strategy meeting I am not surprised that the matter was not
escalated. Those who attended that meeting, which included the PSNI and RQIA,
all seem to have agreed that the safeguarding investigation had concluded, and all
in attendance appeared to be satisfied that the substantial work that had been
undertaken since the investigation began, and the protection plans which were

then in place, dealt with all concerns satisfactorily.

In fairness to Ms Morrison, in considering material in order to provide this witness
statement, I did come across the example (referred to above) of Ms Morrison
escalating a matter from the Belfast Trust Learning Disability Governance Meeting
on 1 March 2012 to the LASP meeting. This may indicate that the Ennis Ward
Adult Safeguarding Investigation report was not itself seen as something to be
escalated upwards. This would also have been consistent with the policies in place

at the time.

Given what is known to have occurred at Muckamore Abbey Hospital from 2017
on, it is obviously difficult to make the following point. However, in view of all
the steps that were taken in response to what was said to have occurred on Ennis
ward (of which the Ennis Adult Safeguarding Investigation was part), it is difficult
to see, at least from my own lengthy experience as an Executive Director and
member of Trust Board, what further steps may have realistically been taken even

if the report itself had been tabled to the Executive Team or the Trust Board.
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Aslindicated at the outset, the Belfast Trust, through the present Director of Social
Work, is undertaking work to bring greater information about adult safeguarding
to the attention of Trust Board. If it is of assistance to the work of the MAH Inquiry

then further detail on this can be provided.

Question 3

Was the report provided to the Chief Executive, Medical or Nursing Director?

Was the report provided to the Audit Committee (including any sub-committee of

the

audit committee), or any other Committees?

It is expected that the answer to this question will also explain when and in what
circumstances the report was provided to such persons/entities.

78.

79.

80.

The Belfast Trust refers to what it has been possible to say in answer to questions
1 and 2. The Belfast Trust cannot confirm that the adult safeguarding report itself
was provided to the then Chief Executive, the then Medical Director or the then
Director of Nursing at the time that the adult safeguarding investigation
concluded. The Belfast Trust considers that it is unlikely that it was, as this would

not be something that would normally occur for adult safeguarding reports.

However, the Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding report was discussed at the
Muckamore Departmental Assurance Group (MDAG) meetings which took place
on 1 October 2019, 30 October 2019, 27 November 2019, 18 December 2019 and 19
February 2020. I recall that at some point during this period, because it was being
referred to at MDAG, the then Director of Adult Social and Primary Care, Marie

Heaney, providing me with a copy of the report.

I understand that Ms Heaney also provided a copy of the report to the Department.
However, the report was not provided to all of those individuals who attended
MDAG meetings because it was a confidential report that contained the names of

individuals. Sean Holland, then the Department’s Chief Social Worker Officer,
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instead asked that a synopsis of the report be produced and circulated to MDAG.
The Belfast Trust’s Rhoda McBride drafted the synopsis. The synopsis was
circulated to members of MDAG in advance of the following meeting on 27

November 2019.

The Ennis ward Adult Safeguarding report was not, to my knowledge, provided
to the Belfast Trust Audit Committee, or any sub-committee thereof. The Audit
Committee was concerned with establishing and maintaining effective systems of
internal control, reviewing the adequacy of all control related disclosure
statements and reviewing the adequacy of all policies and procedures including
considering their compliance with relevant guidance and requirements. By
contrast, the Assurance Committee was responsible for ensuring that effective, and
regularly reviewed, structures are in place to support the implementation and
development of governance, including (in summary) that processes were being

properly implemented and were effective in practice.

The Audit Committee (and its sub-committees) does not therefore typically receive
reports, however, the Assurance Committee (and its sub-committees) would
receive reports where appropriate. The Belfast Trust has not found any material
which would suggest that the Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Investigation report

was provided to the Assurance Committee or any sub-committee.

Question 4

Why was the report not addressed in the Discharge of Statutory Functions (DSF)
Reports (see paragraph 6 of the Leadership and Governance Report)?

Which body, or person, within the Trust has responsibility for discussing and
signing off on the DSF Report?

83.

The preparation of Discharge of Statutory Function reports is ultimately overseen
by the Director of Social Work. In practice, service areas provided the information

relating to their individual service area, and the report was then compiled by John
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Growcott, Co-Director of Social Work. Once compiled, the Director of Social Work
would approve the report as being ready to be provided to the Trust Board. The
Trust Board would then consider the report at a meeting and approve it to be sent

to HSCB.

84. The Delegated Statutory Functions Report was, in 2010, the process by which the

Trust could:

a. Assure both the commissioner and the Department as to the Trust’s
compliance with its statutory duties;

b. Ensure that the Trust Board is fully briefed on its corporate roles and
responsibilities;

c. Highlight the required remedial action necessary to improve
performance;

d. Identify new trends, gaps or issues;

e. Facilitate learning within and between Trusts through the further
development of performance management and benchmarking

techniques.

85. The Scheme of DSF in 2010 sought to achieve greater consistency within the
delegated statutory functions reports submitted by Health and Social Care Trusts.
To that end, Appendix 2 of the Scheme of DSF outlined the recommended structure
and content of DSF Reports. Each report was recommended to contain 3 sections:
narrative, quantitative data and performance management. The quantitative data
and performance management section were to include standardised data sets and
key performance indicators to measure compliance. Within the narrative, the

Scheme of DSF stated that the written report should:

a. Contain a general statement of Controls Assurance from the Director

setting out the Trust’s performance in-year against the Discharge of
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Statutory Functions and confirming that this information has been

shared with the Trust Board;

b. Report by exception highlighting those areas where the Trust has not
met standards and where remedial action is now required to improve

performance;

c. Provide a progress report in relation to remedial action highlighted in

the previous year’s report;

d. Set out the systems, processes, audits and evaluations undertaken
internally or externally during the year which shape the Director’s

conclusion about Trust performance;

e. Highlight which, if any of the areas requiring further improvement have

been included in the Trust corporate register;

f. Report on the Trust’s compliance in relation to other statutory agencies

such as ISCC, RQIA;

g. Provide an analysis of any financial issues which mean that the Trust

believes they cannot adequately discharge statutory functions;

h. Identify emerging trends and issues.

86. It may be that Ms Morrison can provide further assistance on this, but I would not
understand a DSF report to be the vehicle for discussion of a specific adult
safeguarding investigation or report. The available DSF reports do not indicate
that individual adult safeguarding reports were ever discussed in the DSF reports.
The Belfast Trust DSF report is ultimately provided to the Department. The

Department was already on notice, through the Early Alert mechanism, of the
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allegations about Ennis Ward. Further, the Department’s Chief Medical Officer
was engaged, through the RQIA process (including the 1 February 2013 letter
(MAHI-Ennis-1-120)) in respect of the issues that RQIA considered needed to be

addressed arising from its inspections of Ennis ward following the allegations.

Question 5 When did the Trust Board first become aware of the Ennis Report and
its action plans?

Please note that the reference to the Board includes reference to Non-Executive

Directors.

87. It is unfortunate that I have to say this is a difficult question for the Belfast Trust to

now answer with assurance.

88. For the reasons set out in answer to questions 1 and 2, the Belfast Trust does not
believe that the Trust Board would have been made aware of the report at the time
it was completed in 2014. This would have been consistent with all adult
safeguarding reports produced in the Belfast Trust, and their associated action

plans.

89. It may be this is not what is meant by the question, but the Trust Board would
certainly have become aware of the Ennis Adult Safeguarding Investigation report
at a later stage, on consideration of the report of the 2020 Leadership and

Governance Review.

Question 6

When the Trust Board did become aware of the report, what steps did it take?

90. On the basis that the Trust Board, as a board, first became aware of the Ennis Ward

Adult Safeguarding Investigation report through the report of the 2020 Leadership

and Governance Review, there would not have been steps to take in respect of
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matters specifically connected to Ennis ward. By this point the Trust Board was
already involved in the Belfast Trust response to what came to light in Muckamore
Abbey Hospital from 2017 onwards. The 2020 Leadership and Governance Review

was itself part of that response.

Question 7

Which other agencies was the report provided to and when?

91.

92.

93.

The MAH Inquiry has, within the Ennis Module 6b bundle, provided the minutes
of the various vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding strategy meetings that took

place during the vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation.

From the minutes of the 5 July 2013 strategy meeting, it can be seen that the draft

report was provided to:

a. PSNI (MAHI-Ennis-1-67).

b. RQIA (MAHI-Ennis-1-67).

c. Northern Health and Social Care Trust (MAHI-Ennis-1-67).

d. South Eastern Health and Social Care Trust (MAHI-Ennis-1-67).

From the minutes of the 28 October 2013 Adult Safeguarding Case Conference, it
appears that the same recipients received an amended draft report, about which
no participants were said to have raised any issues (MAHI-Ennis-1-71). This would
suggest that the same external organisations also received the second draft of the

report.
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94. To date the Belfast Trust has not found any evidence that the report went to any
other external agencies, though I cannot rule out the possibility that it did. It may
be Ms Morrison will be able to assist with whether the report was provided to any

other agencies.

Question 8

What action did BHSCT take to implement the recommendations contained in the

Ennis report and to monitor their effectiveness?

It is envisaged that the response to this question will include, but need not be

limited to, an explanation of:

e  Who, or what entity, created the action plans relating to Ennis?

e Who, or what entity, was responsible for the implementation of the action
plans?

e How were the action plans implemented?

¢ How was the implementation of the action plans monitored by the Trust?

The answer to this question should include an explanation of both named
individuals and committees who were responsible for monitoring, and an

explanation of the various levels at which monitoring took place.

e Did the Trust work with any other agencies in the implementation and
monitoring of the action plans? If so, how?
e What support was offered to ward staff to implement changes brought about by

recommendations (for example, education/training/supervision/HR support)?

95. As set out above, it is important, to a fair assessment of what occurred in respect
of the response to the allegations about care on Ennis Ward, to consider steps taken
by the Belfast Trust outside of the specific response to the Ennis Ward Adult

Safeguarding Report, as well as the responses directly to it.
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By the time the Ennis Ward Adult Safeguarding Report was completed the Belfast
Trust had already undertaken a series of actions as part of its overall response to
what occurred. These included, amongst others, environmental changes to the
ward, changes to the staffing arrangements on the ward, and substantial and
prolonged monitoring of the care provided on the ward. I refer to the detail set out

in paragraphs 23 to 143 of the Module 6 witness statement dated 26 April 2023.

In the Module 6 witness statement dated 26 April 2023, between paragraphs 82 to
127 the Belfast Trust also set out the 9 recommendations made by the Ennis Adult
Safeguarding Investigation report itself, and what Belfast Trust had either already
done by the time of the finalisation of the report, or did in the aftermath of the

report.

Question 9

What steps were taken by the Trust to investigate whether the culture that was

found to exist on Ennis ward existed in other wards at MAH?

98.

99.

The question of the culture on the Ennis ward, whatever that was found to be, and,
whether it was also found on other wards, was something under consideration
from the outset of the Vulnerable Adult/Adult Safeguarding investigation (see
MAHI-Ennis-1-6 bottom of page and MAHI-Ennis-1-36 bottom of page). This was
a joint protocol approach that involved individuals from the Belfast Trust, the

Northern Trust, the South Eastern Trust, the RQIA and the PSNI.

The Inquiry’s question 9 appears to infer that there was a culture on the Ennis
Ward that was to be avoided. It is important to look closely at what was found in
respect of Ennis ward, and why that may not be accurately described as a culture
that was to be avoided. It is also important to consider the available

contemporaneous evidence which suggests that however the problems on Ennis
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ward are described, they were not found to be occurring on other wards. I note
that the subsequent disciplinary investigation team of Ms Scott and Ms Hamilton
(who were given wide terms of reference that included looking at the whole
system i.e. the context of Ennis Ward within the hospital, the managerial processes
on the ward, staffing practices and individual patient needs (MAHI-Ennis-1-299)),
whilst making other adverse findings, did not consider there was a culture of poor

attitude of staff within the ward environment (MAHI-Ennis-1-312).

100. On 20 December 2012 the police explained to those involved with the joint
protocol process that a member of staff from Bohill, who had made allegations
about two members of staff on Ennis Ward, also explained that they had worked
on Rathmullan and Erne wards. The member of Bohill staff contrasted her
experience of, and spoke highly of staff on, the other wards (MAHI-Ennis-1-45).
The Police Sergeant is said to have indicated this was a significant point; that

allegations were not about care throughout the hospital.

101. Also on 20 December 2012, the police summarised the account of another
member of staff from Bohill who was said to have had experience of learning
disability care. This individual had worked on Erne ward where there was said to

have been no issues (MAHI-Ennis-1-47).

102. It appears that no member of Bohill staff, including those who did not
themselves volunteer concerns (but who were nonetheless spoken to as part of the
investigation process), did not have any concerns about any other ward at MAH

beyond Ennis.

103.  Part of the purpose of the 24-hour monitoring on Ennis itself was to establish if
there was a culture of abuse on the ward. By 20 December 2012 the 24-hour

monitoring had been taking place for some 6 weeks and Ms Mannion confirmed
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that the monitoring process had shown no signs of a culture of abuse on Ennis

Ward (MAH-Ennis-1-48).

104. This is a reflection of the content of Ms Mannion’s briefing report of 19
December 2012 relating to the ongoing monitoring exercise (MAHI-Ennis-1-86). Ms
Mannion stated, arising from the monitoring, and her own oversight work, “there
was no indication of any possibility of a culture that may be accepting of behaviours of

communications that could be referred to as abusive” (MAHI-Ennis-1-87).

105. Ms Mannion’s second report, dated 9 January 2013 (MAHI-Ennis-1-88 to MAHI-
Ennis-1-96), was a detailed report of the work undertaken by Ms Mannion and
those conducting the 24-hour monitoring to that point. Ms Mannion concluded
(MAHI-Ennis-1-96) that "there is no evidence that there is a culture tolerant of
behaviours that could be defined as abusive or support systemic abuse.” This was not to
say that Ms Mannion was satisfied that Ennis ward was operating as well as it

could be; this is evidenced by the Service Improvement Action Plan that was

developed and actioned (MAHI-Ennis-1-97 to MAHI-Ennis-1-113).

106. Further, when Ms Morrison raised matters with staff in the Belfast Trust in
2019, Ms Morrison made it clear that Bohill staff were themselves “very clear that
concerns were confined to Ennis”. This was reflected in more detail in Ms Morrison's
written account provided to the Belfast Trust in January 2020. The account
included the following: "The Bohill staff who had made the allegations were very clear
that they had had no concerns about staff conduct on other wards that they had also spent
time in and indeed had observed very compassionate care on the other wards so we had no

reason to suspect at that stage practice in other wards.”

107.  This is consistent with the discussion, summarised above, which took place at

the strategy meeting on 20 December 2012:
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“DMCcB (Bohill staff) gave an account of possibly criminal acts by Staff 3 and Staff 1.
She also noted a very different experience working on Ennis ward as opposed to
Rathmullan and Erne wards where she spoke very high of staff. Elaine McCormill noted
this as a significant point that the allegations were not about care throughout the
hospital but only on Ennis Ward. Aine noted that this was positive. However, it also
potentially further heightened the concern about Ennis as there were clear differences

being reported between it and other wards”. (MAHI-ENNIS- 1 - 45)

108.  In fairness to Ms Morrison, the available material would tend to suggest that if
Ms Morrison, as Designated Officer, had considered there was any basis to suspect
there was a problem on any other ward then she would not have hesitated to raise

it.

109. In addition, there were still all the standard mechanisms for concerns to be
raised in respect of something inappropriate occurring on any ward in MAH, as
with any other Belfast Trust facility. As indicated below, those mechanisms were
utilised on a number of different occasions. It is a sad fact that there has always
been, and probably will always be, occasions when some health and social care
staff behave in a way that is not appropriate. It is important that, when such
incidents occur, they are dealt with properly. Some examples of action being taken
in respect of staff at Muckamore Abbey Hospital, about whom concerns were

raised, is discussed below.

Question 10

Why did the Belfast Trust not submit an SAI in respect of Ennis?

Who was responsible for this decision and when was it made?

110. Iwasnot personally involved in the decision as to how the allegations that were

made relating to Ennis ward were to be addressed. However, the answer to the
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question as to why Belfast Trust did not notify and conduct an SAI appears to be
because the Belfast Trust decided that the other available processes were the more
appropriate processes for what needed to be addressed arising from what occurred

on Ennis ward.

111. A Serious Adverse Incident process is certainly one process that was available
to the Belfast Trust in 2012, and those who were involved in the decision making
when the allegations were made. However, there were also other similar processes
open to the Belfast Trust. These included the Vulnerable Adult/ Adult Protection
process, the RQIA inspection process and consequent Action Plan, and the

disciplinary process following any police action.

112. I understand that it is likely that there were discussions in the immediate
aftermath of the initial allegations, probably between Ms Mairead Mitchell (then
the Learning Disability Governance Lead), Ms Catherine McNicholl (then the
Director of Adult Social and Primary Care) and possibly Ms Aine Morrison
(Community Learning Disability Operations Officer, and who became the
Designated Officer for the Vulnerable Adult/ Adult Protection investigation) as to
how the allegations were best dealt with. It is understood that, at that time, it was
considered that the allegations were best dealt with through the vulnerable
adult/adult protection process, rather than as an SAIL It will probably be most
helpful to the MAH Inquiry to hear from the individuals involved in the decision
as to what their considerations were and why they reached this decision. I
anticipate that the rationale will have involved the fact that having parallel
processes (vulnerable adult/adult protection and SAI) would not have been
practical or realistic, and that the vulnerable adult/adult protection process, in
conjunction with the work of the RQIA (and the consequent Action Plan process),

would likely be more effective than having an SAI alongside the RQIA process.

113. From what I can establish from the available documentation, it seems that the

suggestion that the Ennis ward allegations should have been dealt with by way of
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an SAI process was not itself made by the HSCB until 6 March 2014. This does not
absolve the Belfast Trust if it was under a duty to notify an SAI and undertake an
SAI process, but there was a 2013 change in SAI definitions, which I discuss below.

This change may account for how the question of an SAI developed.

114. It does appear to be the case that the HSCB was aware of the Ennis allegations
from the outset, that the Belfast Trust was undertaking investigations, and that the
Belfast Trust had suspended pending investigation. This occurred through the 9
November 2012 Early Alert. In addition, I am aware that Mr Aidan Murray from
HSCB had asked Ms Aine Morrison for copies of the Adult Protection strategy
meeting minutes, and that Ms Joyce McKee from HSCB had separately asked Ms
Yvonne McKnight, via email “what was going on in Muckamore”, alluding to the
Ennis Investigation (BHSCT - A - 00024 - Ennis Investigation - Aine Morrison File 1
(353 pages) - (02452).pdf page 220). Unfortunately, in the time available I have not
yet been able to ascertain whether the strategy minutes were provided to Mr

Murray or what response Yvonne McKnight provided to Ms McKee.

115.  The original incident form, arising from the initial allegations received was
completed on Datix by Sister and approved by Clinton Stewart.
The severity of the incident was initially considered to be ‘moderate’” and the
incident was given a risk grade of ‘medium’, as the likelihood of recurrence was
considered to be ‘rare’ (BHSCT - A - 00018 - LD Governance Lead - Various Records
(Folder 2 of 3) (322 pages) - (00960).pdf page 66-67). This severity grading and risk
grading would not have met the threshold for an SAI within the Belfast Trust.

116. The SAI procedure in place in November 2012, which envisaged a completed

process within 12 weeks, was the HSCB Regional SAI Procedure from April 2010.
This 2010 procedure, in paragraph 3.1, defined an SAI as:

“An SAl is an adverse incident that must be reported to the Health & Social Care Board

(HSCB) because it meets at least one of the following criteria:
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e serious injury to, or the unexpected/unexplained death (including suspected
suicides and serious self harm) of:
- aservice user
- a service user known to Mental Health Services (including Child
and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) or Learning
Disability (LD) within the last two years)

e unexpected serious risk to a service user and/or staff members and/or
member of the public
e unexpected or significant threat to provide service and/or maintain business
continuity
o serious assault (including homicide and sexual assaults) by a service user
- on other service users
- on staff or
- on members of the public
occurring within a healthcare facility or in the community (where the
service user is known to mental health services including CAMHS or LD
within the last two years)
e serious incidents of public interest or concern involving theft, fraud,

information breaches or data losses. ”

117.  The MAH Inquiry will note that this 2010 definition is slightly different to both
the definition referenced in the 2020 Leadership and Governance Review, which
utilised the definition from the 2016 policy 2016 (MAHI-Ennis-1-697) and the
definition referred to by the HSCB DRO in the 2014 and 2015 communications over

the issue.

118. The Early Alert was submitted to the Department and the HSCB on 9
November 2012. On 6 March 2014, which was subsequent to the introduction of
the 2013 HSCB SAI policy (with the revised definition discussed below) Roisin
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Hughes of HSCB sent an email stating that the Early Alert remained open and
“qiven the serious nature of this incident and its public interest” that the DRO was of
the opinion that it should be an SAI. A further email was sent by Ms Hughes on 16
January 2015 repeating that the DRO felt that it should be an SAI. On 3 February
2015, a further email from Ms Hughes identified that the DRO considered that the
incident would meet the criteria set out in 4.2.5 and 4.2.8 of the “Procedure for the
Reporting and Follow up of Serious Adverse Incidents (October 2013)” (“the 2013
SAI Procedure”).

119. The 2013 SAI Procedure had an expanded definition of what constituted an
SAI It was the expanded definitions, contained in paragraph 4.2.5 and 4.2.8, to
which Ms Hughes referred in 2014. They defined SAI as:

“4.2.5 serious self-harm or serious assault (including attempted suicide, homicide
and sexual assaults) by a service user, a member of staff or a member of the public within

any healthcare facility providing a commissioner service;

4.2.8 serious incidents of public interest or concern relating to:
- any of the criteria above
- theft, fraud, information breach or data losses

- a member of HSC staff or independent practitioner.”

120. While it does not answer whether or not the Belfast Trust should have
subsequently filed an SAI upon the request of HSCB in March 2014, it appears to
be the case that the two elements of the definition of an SAI which HSCB
considered this incident met did not exist under the 2010 Protocol. It may therefore
be the case that, between November 2012 and March 2014, the reason that HSCB,
Belfast Trust nor RQIA regarded the incident as requiring an SAI was because it
did not fit as easily within the definition that applied in 2012 when the allegations

were made. I entirely accept it was an issue that could be kept under review, and,
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if a point was reached when an SAI was considered beneficial, then that could have

been undertaken.

121. In addition, and as was explained to HSCB’s Roisin Hughes on 12 May 2015
(BHSCT-A-00019-LD Governance Lead -Various Records (Folder 3 of 3) (16 pages) -
(00961) page 91), having an SAI procedure as a parallel process that should operate
alongside vulnerable adult procedures or complaints was first introduced in the

2013 SAI Protocol.

122.  In 2015, the Belfast Trust considered that the extensive investigations already
undertaken did not justify the activation of a further SAI process. The safeguarding
investigation and the disciplinary investigation were broad in nature, alongside
the RQIA inspection and Action Plan process. Ms Morrison considered her
safeguarding investigation to be very fulsome. When, in September 2013, she was
informed by Rhonda Scott that Ms Scott had been requested to carry out an internal
investigation in Ennis she replied “I wasn’t aware that there was to be an internal
investigation. Are there issues that haven’t been dealt with by the safequarding
investigation?” (BHSCT - A - 00017 - LD Governance Lead- Various Records (Folder 1
of 3) (816 pages) Redacted Copy- (00959) page 2). Esther Rafferty’s response was that
“A full internal investigation will now take place to look at what action and learning the
Trust needs to undertake in relation to any staffing concerns raised from the original
complaint on 8% November”. (BHSCT - A - 00017 — LD Governance Lead- Various
Records (Folder 1 of 3) (816 pages) Redacted Copy- (00959) page 1).

123. The safeguarding investigation had been conducted with the direct
engagement of RQIA, PSNI, the Northern Trust and the South Eastern Trust. HSCB
and the Department had also been kept abreast of the situation and included in
correspondence such as that passing between RQIA and the Belfast Trust

concerning the progress of improvements on the ward.

Question 11
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Who drafted the “Review of Ennis Investigation 2012” at BHSCT-A-00019?

What was the intended purpose of the review?

Who was the report given to and when?

Specifically, was it provided to the Trust Board?

124. I understand that during Marie Heaney’s time as Director of Adult and Social
Primary Care (Ms Heaney had taken up the post in September 2017), she became
aware that there had been safeguarding concerns in the Ennis ward several years
earlier. Ms Heaney considered that the corporate memory surrounding the
allegations and subsequent investigation was insufficient and therefore set about
trying to learn about it. The need for this learning was accelerated when the issue

of the Ennis investigation arose at MDAG meetings in the autumn of 2019.

125. Jolene Welsh became the Governance Lead for Learning Disability on 18
November 2019. Ms Heaney asked to meet with Ms Welsh as part of her induction.
During that meeting, Ms Heaney asked if, as a matter of priority, Ms Welsh would
review the Ennis Investigation and build a timeline of the investigation. One of the
reasons that Ms Heaney had sought a ‘review’ of the investigation was in

preparation for a briefing with families that was discussed at MDAG.

126. The first draft of the review was provided to Ms Heaney on 13 January 2020. I
understand that there were a series of meetings between Aine Morrison, Carol
Diffin, Rhoda McBride, Jolene Welsh and Marie Heaney which included
developing media statements, planning family engagement and proposed letters

to families.
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127.  Unfortunately, it would appear that the intended family engagement never
occurred. This may have been in part due to the intervention of Covid-19. I
understand that Jolene Welsh continued to work on her understanding of the
Ennis Investigation and updating the timeline until May 2020, when the
Department of Health requested all files for the leadership and Governance

review.

128. Ms Heaney may be able to further assist, but I have not found material to
suggest that the piece of work undertaken by Ms Welsh, in order to assist Ms

Heaney, was itself provided to Trust Board.

Question 12

Were families of patients informed that an investigation was being carried out into

allegations arising at Ennis ward?

If so, when and how? If not, why not?

129. The provision of information about an ongoing investigation, particularly an
ongoing police investigation, was always, and continues to be, a difficult issue to
manage. That is so whether it be in respect of the provision of information to
families or staff. As far as the Belfast Trust is concerned it has continued to be a
difficult issue throughout the police investigation arising from the viewing of
CCTV from 2017. It is an issue that the Belfast Trust takes seriously. The Belfast
Trust wants to be open and transparent with families and staff. However, there
are other factors that militate against that approach. Whether the present
systems/mechanisms, and how they interact with each other, provides the right

balance in these areas may be a matter of interest to the MAH Inquiry.
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130. The MAH Inquiry has provided within the Ennis Module 6b bundle the
minutes of the various vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding strategy meetings that

took place during the vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation.

131. Those minutes and other available documents demonstrate that the answer to
the question posed (were families informed that an investigation as being carried

out in respect of allegations arising from Ennis ward?), is yes:

a. The initial allegations from a Bohill care assistant, relating to four
patients who were identified, were brought to the attention of the MAH
Service Manager on 8 November 2012. The relatives of those patients
were informed that allegations had been made and were being

investigated (MAHI-Ennis-1-6). Relatives were also given contact details

for both inside and outside MAH (MAHI-Ennis-1-28).

b. By Friday 9 November 2012, Barry Mills, the Clinical and Therapeutic
Service Manager confirmed in a note that all relatives of patients not
directly connected to recent allegations had been contacted and advised
of allegations, staff suspension and ongoing investigation. The relatives
were also advised as to how to raise any concerns they may have had,
or currently had (BHSCT - A - 00018 - LD Governance Lead - Various
Records (Folder 2 of 3) (322 pages) - (00960).pdf page 284).

c. On12 December 2012 there was an intention to update relatives on what
was a joint protocol investigation. This was not confined to the four
individuals who were said to have been verbally or physically abused,
but the relatives of all patients on the ward. Telephone contact was to
be made, followed up by letter (MAHI-Ennis-1-35). By 20 December 2012
telephone contact had been made with relatives of 9 of the 17 patients

from the relevant part of Ennis Ward (MAHI-Ennis-1-35). Details of the
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conversations with each relative is recorded in an email from Colette
Ireland to Aine Morrison of 17 December 2012 (BHSCT - A - 00024 - Ennis
Investigation - Aine Morrison File 1 (353 pages) - (02452).pdf at page 280). In
respect of the patients where there had been allegations considered to
disclose criminality, the contact was to include seeking permission to
provide their contact details to PSNI so that police could update them
on the criminal investigation (MAHI-Ennis-1-43).

d. By 9 January 2013 Ms Morrison was still completing telephone contact
with relatives, but the content of the follow up letter to families had been
agreed for issue once the phone contact was complete (MAHI-Ennis-1-
54). There are documented records of the telephone calls made by Ms
Aine Morrison to relatives that can be made available to the MAH

Inquiry.

e. On18January 2013, a letter was sent to at least 14 of the patients” family
members by Ms. Morrison. The letter referred the family member to the
recent telephone contact between them and the fact that a number of
relatives had requested that Ms. Morrison write to them to provide a
point of contact should they have any further queries concerning the

investigation.

f. On 19 February 2013, Ms. Morrison sent a letter to the relatives of two
patients to inform them that she had been trying to contact them by
telephone to update them on the current vulnerable adult investigation

in Ennis Ward and providing her contact details.

g. On 29 March 2013 a fresh round of telephone updates, with content
directed by PSNI, was agreed. It was again to be undertaken by Ms

Morrison for the Belfast Trust, with the content of the update dictated
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by whether the allegations relating to the patient were the subject of

criminal consideration (MAHI-Ennis-1-64).

h. Handwritten notes of ‘April/May Contact’ indicate that 13 patients’
relatives were contacted as agreed on 29 March 2013. The phone calls
took place between 8 April 2013 and 17 April 2013. During the phone
call, relatives were provided with an update in relation to the outcome

of the police investigation and were provided with the contact details

for DC Hawthorne, PSNI.

i. On 5 July 2013, when discussions took place in respect of the draft final
report, there was an agreed intention to provide further feedback to
families when the content of the final report was finalised (MAHI-Ennis-
1-64). Ms Morrison, who was conducting the engagement with families
about the vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation, may be

able to further assist with the detail around this.

j. At the final strategy meeting on 8 April 2014, when it was agreed that
the adult safeguarding investigation had concluded (MAHI-Ennis-1-81),
Ms Morrison was to prepare a general update for families. Constable
Hawthorne advised that she had spoken to the relatives of patients and
provided full details of the allegations made against the staff members
(MAHI-Ennis-1-78) and the police would also be keeping the families of
the 4 patients (who were the subject of specific allegations) informed of

court progress.

k. The documents in the Ennis Bundle suggest that PSNI also engaged with
families about the investigation (MAHI-Ennis-1-70). The MAH Inquiry
may wish to ask PSNI about the extent and nature of this engagement

with relatives, as the Belfast Trust does not have access to any PSNI
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material relating to the Ennis investigation. It appears that by at least 8
April 2014, PSNI had engaged with those families of patients that were
the subject of the criminal charges faced by two statf members (MAHI-
Ennis-1-78), and there was an intention for this engagement to continue

(MAHI-Ennis-1-81).

132. In fairness to those involved with the adult safeguarding process, there does

appear to have been significant effort to keep families of Ennis patients informed.
Question 13
Were the findings of the Ennis investigation shared with families of patients?
If so, when and how? If not, why not?
133.  As set out above, on 5 July 2013, when discussions took place in respect of the
draft final report, there was an agreed intention to provide further feedback to

families when the content of the final report was finalised (MAHI-Ennis-1-64).

134. At the conclusion of the adult safeguarding investigation, on 8 April 2014, Ms
Morrison was preparing a further update for families (MAHI-Ennis-1-81).

135. Ms Morrison, who was conducting the engagement with families about the
vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation, may be able to further assist
with the detail around this.

Question 14

Were staff informed that an investigation was being carried out into allegations

arising at Ennis ward?
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If so, when and how? If not, why not?

136. The provision of information to staff about ongoing investigations has always

been a difficult issue to manage, particularly where there is police involvement.

137. An example of the issue is contained in the 14 November 2012 email PSNI
Detective Constable Tracy Hawthorne sent the then Belfast Trust Co-Director for

Learning Disability John Veitch as follows:

“John,

Further to our conversation regards suspended staff being made aware of the
allegations, I have confirmed with my Inspector that staff can be advised that police are
currently investigating allegations of Common Assault and IIl Treatment of a Patient
with a Mental Disorder where all 3 staff that have been suspended have been named as

being present.

At present we are gathering further evidence and there will be appropriate disclosure

to any suspects immediately prior to police interview.

Giving full details of the allegations at this time may be detrimental to a police

investigation.

I am not familiar with the requirements to notify staff under employment legislation

and the employment status of staff members does not fall into our remit.”

138. In the case of the allegations on Ennis Ward it does appear that there were
concerted efforts to manage the provision of information to staff and provide
information as and when it was considered possible to do so. The issue appears to
have been carefully navigated between the investigators, HR and the PSNI from

the outset of the investigation.
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139. It appears to be the case that there were different types of communication with
different groups. For instance, the staff who were initially suspended, and who
were subject to police investigation, appear to have been originally given the type
of information referred to in the above email. When they were interviewed by
police it is likely more specific information about what was alleged will have been
put to them. Subsequently, those two individuals were involved in a disciplinary
process where they will have had a further opportunity to know the detail of what

was alleged against them.

140. There were 2 or 3 other staff who were interviewed by the adult safeguarding
investigation in the context of the allegations (MAHI-Ennis-1-55). It may be that
Ms Morrison can provide some further information on the level of information

given to them as part of the interview process.

141. Subsequently, all staff working on Ennis were to be interviewed, including
domestic staff and medical staff (MAHI-Ennis-1-63). Again, Ms Morrison may be
able to help with the detail of what was disclosed, but it is inevitable that as part
of the interview process, through some of the questions likely to have been asked,

staff will have gained some understanding of the issues involved.

142.  Further, staff working on the ward will have witnessed the presence of the
additional monitoring staff who were present on an ongoing basis over several

weeks.
143. At the Strategy Meeting on 5 July 2013, it was agreed that advice would be

taken from the PSNI and HR about what information arising from the adult
safeguarding investigation could be shared with staff (MAHI-Ennis-1-70).
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144. At the Strategy Meeting on 28 October 2013 the investigating team recognised the
stress to staff caused by the investigation and recommended that further information
could now be shared with staff, subject to police and HR approval. PSNI DC Hawthorne
is recorded as having highlighted the difficulty in sharing any information in relation to
matters that the police were following up on but agreed that a more generic response
could be given to the staff team. DC Hawthorne had no objection to sharing any

information that was not subject to police investigation (MAHI-Ennis-1-84).

145. By the time of the Strategy Meeting on 8 April 2014, Esther Rafferty and Aine
Morrison had met with the staff group from Ennis. Information was shared,
though not about particular staff members. The strategy minutes record that the

staff group were angry and upset in the information meeting (MAHI-Ennis-1-80).

146. Ms Rafferty is understood to have conducted the majority of the engagement
with staff. For instance, letters sent by Ms Morrison to staff members in May 2013,
in relation to meeting details for the purposes of the Ennis investigation, refer to

the fact that some staff members had had meetings with Ms Rafferty.

147. Both Ms Rafferty and Ms Morrison who were conducting the engagement with

staff about these matters may be able to further assist with the detail around this.

Question 15

Were the findings of the Ennis investigation shared with staff? If so, when and

how? If not, why not?

148. As I have set out above, I understand Ms Rafferty and Ms Morrison met with
staff to discuss the findings of the Ennis investigation, though they did not
necessarily discuss particular staff. The Belfast Trust has not, to date, found a
written record of those discussions. It may be Ms Rafferty and Ms Morrison will

be able to further assist with this issue.
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Question 16

What weight was placed on the findings of the Ennis report during the disciplinary

investigations subsequently conducted in respect of and EIEY

149. This issue is addressed by the disciplinary investigators in the section of their
reports dealing with identified limitations of the disciplinary investigation process
(MAHI-Ennis-1-309, 331, 376). The disciplinary investigators therein explain that
they “used the Adult Safequarding Report as a frame of reference and with the exception
of the recommendations to discipline 2 named staff, the general outcomes, conclusions and

recommendations where [sic] similar”.

150. The two disciplinary investigators are best placed to confirm the position, but
it appears that they took the findings of the Ennis Adult Safeguarding
Investigation report into account, but conducted their own independent
investigation, and reached their own independent conclusions on the available

evidence.

Question 17

Why did the disciplinary investigation not recommend or support formal or

disciplinary action against §iEg or FTEE

151. In 2013 the policy of the Belfast Trust was that vulnerable adult/adult
safeguarding investigations and disciplinary investigations were to be conducted
separately, and by different personnel. They were two distinct processes with
different purposes. Each process, while capable of being informed by the other,
was not bound to reach the same conclusion as the other. Each process was
ultimately independent of the other. Consequently, the outcome from one would

not necessarily be the same for the other.
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152. The vulnerable adult/adult safeguarding investigation was to be conducted in
accordance with the applicable Belfast Trust Adult Protection Procedures. The
disciplinary investigation was to be conducted in keeping with the Belfast Trust

Disciplinary Procedures.

153. The available material indicates that the PSNI did not want the Belfast Trust
disciplinary process to begin until such times as the PSNI could be sure that the
criminal investigation was not compromised (MAHI- Ennis- 1- 47,49,62 and 67).
Following PSNI approval, Esther Rafferty began the disciplinary process by setting
the Terms of Reference for the Disciplinary Investigation. The terms of reference

for the disciplinary investigation were agreed with Ms Mannion.

154. Two individuals were appointed to conduct the disciplinary investigations: Ms

Geraldine Hamilton and Ms Rhonda Scott.

155. Rhonda Scott was an Assistant Service Manager in Muckamore Abbey Hospital
with oversight of Cranfield 1 and Cranfield 2 and was a nurse by background.
Geraldine Hamilton had no prior experience of MAH. Ms Hamilton was an
occupational therapist with a background in mental health. In 2012, Ms Hamilton
was working on the Knockbracken site, covering a maternity leave as Operational
Manager. Ms Hamilton was chosen as an investigator so that one of the two

investigators was entirely independent of MAH.

156. The answer to the question posed by the MAH Inquiry is to be found in the
body of the disciplinary investigation reports. In the reports the investigators go
through each of the allegations they investigated, set out their conclusions, and the
basis for them; see, for example, MAHI-Ennis-299 to MAHI-Ennis-309 and MAHI-
Ennis-324 to MAHI-Ennis-331.
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157. The disciplinary investigators also directly addressed the limitations of the
disciplinary investigative process (MAHI-Ennis-1-331), some of the differences
between the disciplinary process and the adult safeguarding process, and the
potential reasons for the different conclusions reached (albeit the adult
safeguarding report recommendation (MAHI-Ennis-1-286) was for a disciplinary
investigation to be undertaken, not for a particular outcome to be reached by that

discplinary investigation).

158. It is my understanding that Ms Scott and Ms Hamilton approached their
investigation as an independent process, and that they were to come to their own
conclusions based on the evidence that they gathered and independently
considered. Ms Scott and Ms Hamilton recall receiving the documentation listed
in the introduction to the disciplinary reports (see MAHI-Ennis-1-296) prior to
beginning their investigation, with the exception of the Ennis Adult Safeguarding
Investigation report, which they do not recall receiving until a later point in their

investigation.

159. Inconducting the disciplinary investigation, the investigators interviewed staff
from the Belfast Trust and staff from Bohill Residential Home. The investigators
travelled to Bohill on two occasions. Many of the staff from Bohill who had worked
on Ennis Ward were unwilling to engage in the process. In fact, only 4 staff from
Bohill who had worked on Ennis Ward were willing to engage with the

investigators.

160. Of the staff who were unwilling to engage with the investigators, there were

seven of particular note:
a. T the Ward Manager of Bohill, failed to attend for interview

and would not engage with the investigators, despite the fact that

attempts were made to accommodate her.
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b. [ B2 P the named source of 15 of the allegations, had emigrated
to Australia and was unwilling to engage in the process despite offers
being made to conduct an interview by remote means or by telephone.

C. was the named source of 5 of the allegations and was

not contactable.

d. IEEE V' 2s the named source of 2 of the allegations and was not

contactable.

e. B10 was the named source of 9 of the allegations and was not

contactable.

f. and were named as alternative sources

for 3 allegations and neither were contactable.

161. The four staff members from Bohill who were willing to be interviewed,
presented their accounts of their time on Ennis Ward in different terms from that
which had previously been reported. A number of the staff members
complimented the staff who worked on Ennis, as well as the ward manager (see,
for example, MAHI-Ennis-1-425, 440, 444, 447, 448). One particular example that
was notable for the investigators was the interview with Bohill’s || IESEIE
was recorded as the source for the 47t allegation (MAHI-Ennis-1-
390), namely that a care assistant would remove a patient’s shoes if she was on the
ground and throw them across the floor to distract her. told the
disciplinary investigators that she had not referred to this as a criticism of MAH
staff, but rather intended it as a positive example of staff behaviour.
considered that it was an acceptable example of staff behaviour in order to divert
the patient’s attention to stop her from stripping, and had mentioned it as such

during her interview with the PSNL
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162. The general demeanour of the Bohill staff gave the disciplinary investigators
the impression that while they had become fatigued by the process, they had also
not been overly concerned with the behaviour they had seen on Ennis ward and

were, in their interviews, often complimentary of the staff on the ward.

163. An example of a difference between the interview process undertaken by the
disciplinary investigators, as compared to the safeguarding process, was
engagement with a witness relevant to an allegation against The relevant
staff member was Their witness statement can be found at MAHI-Ennis-1-399.
During the interview the disciplinary investigators conducted with they were
informed that there was a member of staff present at the material time who had
been on relief from Oldstone Ward. explained that she had told the PSNI that
was on the ward and would be an important witness. It appears the PSNI did
not approach @ to take a statement, and @l was also not spoken to during the

adult safeguarding process.

164. Having considered all of the evidence before them, the disciplinary
investigators determined that they could not be satisfied on the evidence that the
allegations against the individual staff members could be substantiated. I am
informed that this was not a decision that either investigator took lightly, though

the MAH Inquiry may wish to ask the individuals about it themselves.

165.  After the disciplinary investigators provided their draft report to John Veitch,
the Co-Director for Learning Disability, he suggested that before they came to a
final conclusion, they should meet Aine Morrison to discuss their report. The
investigators did so and had a productive, professional and courteous
conversation. While I am informed that the disciplinary investigators could tell
that Ms Morrison had hoped that the disciplinary investigation report would

recommend disciplinary action, they considered that by the end of the meeting Ms
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Morrison was ultimately accepting of the reasoning of the investigators and their

conclusions.

166. The disciplinary investigators reviewed their report and conclusions after
meeting Ms Morrison, but did not make any substantive changes in terms of
outcome. The disciplinary investigators gave a copy of the report to John Veitch,
as the then Co-Director of Learning Disability, and to Esther Rafferty as the then

Service Manager at MAH and the commissioner of the report.

167.  Originally, the disciplinary report was considered as one large report. John
Veitch asked Rhonda Scott to separate the report into three individual reports, one
relating to each of the two individual reports, and one report dealing with the
general issues. The purpose of this exercise was to allow the report to be shared
with each staff member without containing unnecessary information pertaining to

the other staff member.

168. Rhonda Scott and Geraldine Hamilton did not have any further involvement

in the Ennis investigation in any form.
Question 18
Does BHSCT accept the findings of the Leadership and Governance Review that

the Ennis investigation was a missed opportunity and that it had the potential to

identify other institutional malpractice at an earlier stage?
169. This question appears to be based on two different and separate aspects of

paragraph 6 of the Executive Summary (MAHI-Ennis-1-591) of the 2020 Leadership

and Governance Review.
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170. The review was commissioned by the Department of Health. It reported in July
2020. By that time the extent of what had been happening on several wards in
MAH in 2017 had become much clearer.

171.  The 2020 Leadership and Governance Review contains a number of positive
findings about the operation of the Belfast Trust. It also contains what the
reviewers identified as a number of significant failures, and contains a number of

criticisms.

172. It is very difficult for a public body, receiving a report of this kind, to do other
than to accept its findings, and do its best to take action in respect of its
recommendations. This is so even if the public body may not agree with every

aspect of the content of the report that led to the recommendations to be addressed.

173. Having been asked this specific question by the public inquiry, about what
appear to be two separate statements in paragraph 6 of the Executive Summary of
the 2020 Leadership and Governance Review, the Belfast Trust has endeavoured
to reflect on what the review said, and to try to understand what the basis may
have been for it. In trying to give an honest answer to the question from the MAH
Inquiry the Belfast Trust does not wish to be seen as defensive. It has tried to
approach the MAH Inquiry as an opportunity to reflect, learn, and, where

necessary, change.

174. The sentence that contains the reference to the Ennis investigation being a

missed opportunity says:
"The Review Team considered the Ennis investigation to be a missed opportunity as it

was not escalated to Executive Team or Trust Board for wider learning and training

purposes.”
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175.  The Belfast Trust has tried to explain, earlier in this statement, why an adult
safeguarding report itself would not be escalated to Executive Team or Trust

Board, and why that is still the position.

176. Equally, the Belfast Trust has tried to explain, earlier in this statement, how
senior staff of the Belfast Trust, including members of the Executive Team (who
also sat on Trust Board), were nonetheless appraised about, in various different
ways, and aware of, what was said to have occurred on Ennis ward, and what was

being done to address the issues that were identified.

177.  The suggested missed opportunity, arising from the Ennis investigation not
being escalated to Executive Team or Trust Board, was said to be about a missed
opportunity for wider learning and training. It is difficult to see how the Ennis
investigation being considered by the Executive Team or Trust Board would have
necessarily been the vehicle to achieve wider learning and training. If this
proposition is correct, then it could equally be correct for the many adult
safeguarding investigations that unfortunately require to be undertaken in the

Belfast Trust on an annual basis.

178. The separate sentence in paragraph 6 of the Executive Summary of the 2020
Leadership and Governance Review that the MAH Inquiry has referred to in this

question reads:

“Learning from Ennis therefore had the potential to identify any other institutional

malpractice at an earlier stage”.

179.  While the statement is made within the Executive Summary, it does not seem
to appear in the body of the report, and is not subject to any further elaboration.

The natural reading of the sentence appears to presume that there was institutional
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